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RENOVATION OF PITTVILLE PUMP ROOM AND ITS REOPENING

By Ashley Rossiter

The Pittville Pump Room stands today as a
monument of regency splendour, unquestionably
one of Cheltenham’s most beautiful buildings. It was
constructed between 1825-30 as the centrepiece of
what was supposed to be a magnificent estate
financed by the minor local politician and
speculative property developer Joseph Pitt.' In a
town famous across England for its spa waters,
Pittville was the most ambitious and exclusive venue
for sampling the waters. It had been planned as a U-
shape of Grecian villas with the Pump Room as its
focal point, serving in its traditional role as a spa as
well as a community centre. However as the 19
century continued the demand for spa water
decreased. The Pump Room no longer generated as
much interest or revenue as in its heyday. It was not
just that the spa was becoming moribund, but the
estate as a whole had failed to prosper, of the 600
houses intended only 100 had been built by 1830.
This was because of the more successful town
pleasure grounds of Montpellier and the financial
crisis that hit Britain in 1825-26, which was
precipitated by unsound foreign investment. In 1826
houses would sell only for one third of their 1825
value.” Eventually in 1889 the borough council
bought the building for £5,400 from the County of
Gloucester bank which had acquired it in 1842 as
part of Joseph Pitt’s debt ridden estate.” It survives
today, in the council’s ownership, a bastion of Greek
revival topping the hill slope in Pittville Park.

It did not take long for the Borough Council to
realise that it had acquired a building with structural
inadequacies. It was in constant need of restoration.
In 1937 the Parks Committee instructed the Borough
Surveyor, Mr G. Gould Marsland to conduct major
works to combat the problems that had developed.4
It would take three years to restore the main timber
supports, which were infested with rot at the point
where they rested on the abutments and replace
decayed stone work. Other work consisted of
reconstructing the colonnade roof, removal of
Gahagan’s badly eroded statues and repairs to the
loggia.® Completion of the restoration coincided
with the outbreak of war in Europe and in June the
following year the Pump Room was requisitioned
under the Emergency Powers Defence Act (1939)
and was occupied as part of the United States
Army’s service of supply for European operations.6
It was used for storage on the ground floor and on
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the upper floor as officers’ accommodation. The
Borough Surveyor was instructed by the Parks and
Recreation Grounds Committee to keep records of
the condition of the building whilst it was in military
hands. However, the military authorities during their
occupation refused to allow periodical inspections
and when eventually an inspection was allowed it
was limited in its detail. His first report on the 9™
March 1942 noted that the surfacing in front of the
Pump Room was worn and in places was showing
signs of disintegration. Also, the portico on each
side was walled in with brickwork to offer more
storage accommodation and some stone columns
had been chipped at their bases from collision with
the tailboards of lorries unloading supplies.” At this
stage he did not deem any of the damage to be
irreparable after hostilities. When a thorough
inspection did take place after the war it showed that
the building had suffered to a greater extent than
initially thought. Though the Luftwaffe had not
dropped a single bomb on the Pump Room the war
had still taken it toll. On the 12™ May 1945 the
military authorities offered £442 15s. 0d. for
dilapidation. A brief post WWII inspection had
showed the damage far exceeded what the military
authorities offered to pay in compensation. The
Borough Surveyor reported that considerable
dampness had been allowed to go untreated
throughout the interior. Fungi had become deeply
rooted in the bond timbers and dry rot had led to the
degeneration of the masonry. The Parks and
Recreation Grounds Committee resolved that a
complete review of the building should be
conducted. Following this there was to be renewed
negotiations for a more adequate figure than £442.2
Although £442 was considered insufficient it is
important to note that the military authorities had
been paying £200 for rent of the Pump Room and
£14 for the adjoining Marle Hill fields for each of
the five years they were stationed there.” Even
though the offer was increased, the de-requisition
still caused two major problems for the Borough
Council. Firstly, could enough funding be raised for
restoration and what level of restoration was
needed? Secondly, even if adequate funding could
be raised, would the Pump Room be in future an
asset to Cheltenham and therefore justify its
restoration?












about the issue that his donation was dependent on
the outcome. In a statement to the Town Clerk he
declared that “If the Borough Council retained full
possession of the Pump Room and leased it to the
County Council on occasions, then his offer to pay
for the new floor stood. It was only if the control of
the building passed to the County Council that he
would not be interested”.**

Control of the Pump Room affairs reverted back to
the Parks and Recreation Grounds Committee,
which faced three options, each with variant
financial implications. Firstly, in the event of the
main hall being leased to the County Council, with
the Borough Council having occasional use, it would
result in a yearly deficit of £1,000. Secondly, if the
control of the Pump Room was retained by the
Borough Council and made available to the County
Council when required then there was the probable
loss of £2,000. Finally, the Borough believed that if
it retained full control and used it for entertainment
and other community activities then the annual
deficit would be something over £3,000. The
Borough Councﬂ de01ded on the second option and
retained control.” Leasing the upper floor to the
Gloucestershire County Council for use by the
Gloucestershire College of Art.?

The official reopening of the Pittville Pump Room
fell on the 4™ July 1960. The guest of honour was
the Duke of Wellington, which was considered
fitting due to his more famous ancestor’s visit and
the current Duke’s well renowned knowledge of the
arts. He praised the work of restoration and said that
he felt a magnificent feat had been accomgllshed
despite “the terrible vicissitudes of war”.*’ The
Mayor and the Duke wanted to use the opening
celebration as a platform for future restoration
projects within the town. The Duke also encouraged
Cheltenham to apply for a Preservation Act to
protect 1ts archltecture the same status that Bath had
received.?® Special thanks was paid to Robert
Paterson the supervising architect throughout the
renovation and Messrs H. H. Martyn Ltd, who were
known all over the world for their architectural
decoration, also played an important role in the fine
new decorative interior.

When visiting the Pump Room today it is difficult to
comprehend that there ever was any argument
against the decision to save the building. This is not
to deny the mammoth task that lay before those who
were to devote years of their lives, neither to
underestimate the financial burden of the ratepayer
or the generosity of the patrons. It is difficult to
comprehend because it might have so easily gone
the other way. One is left to wonder whether in
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similar circumstances other treasures have been lost.
The Pump Room stands as a victory of such a
debate, a testament to hard work and perseverance, a
monument to the strong attachment to the sublime
and the beautiful, but most of all a protest to the ever
encroaching, functional modemity of ill-thought-out
structural monstrosities appearing across the
country.
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